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it is worthwhile repeating our strategic objective, which  
is to add value by proving up leads and plays in the 
licence and permit areas held by Wessex. in addition,  
the company seeks to balance shareholder exposure 
to risk and capital outlay with appropriate reward by 
de-risking prospects, including the drilling of high impact 
wells by other parties.

Highlights

•	 The	success	of	the	high	profile	exploration	well	drilled	
in Guyane waters targeting the Zaedyus prospect.

•	 AIM	admission	achieved	in	March	2011	accompanied	
by £3 million institutional placing.

•	 Significant	progress	made	in	farm-out	discussions	over	
Juan de Nova Est permit area in the mozambique 
channel.

introduction

Since my last statement to shareholders in march 2011, 
the profile of Wessex has been raised considerably,  
due to the much publicised success of the Gm-ES-1  
well targeting the Zaedyus prospect in the deep waters  
of Guyane.

The Aim admission on the London Stock Exchange  
in march 2011 accompanied by a £3 million institutional 
placing facilitated the funding of our share of the  
well in Guyane and the advancement of our other 
projects’ interests held in Juan de Nova Est located  
in the mozambique channel, Southern England and 
Western Sahara.

i am pleased to report to the shareholders of Wessex Exploration PLc 
(“Wessex” or “the company”) on continuing progress during the 12 months 
ended 30 June 2011 and beyond, especially in respect of our key interest 
in Guyane where the operator, Tullow Oil plc has announced details of an 
offshore oil discovery. 

exploration
assets

capitalising on 

chairman’s statement
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Guyane

The Gm-ES-1 well was drilled by partners Tullow Oil 
plc (“Tullow”) the operator (27.5%), Shell E&P France 
(“Shell”) (45%), Total E&P Guyane Francaise SAS 
(“Total”) (25%) and Northpet investments Limited 
(2.5%), a joint venture between Northern Petroleum Plc 
and Wessex, each with a beneficial net holding of 1.25%.

in September 2011, Tullow issued a news release 
stating “the Zaedyus exploration well has made an oil 
discovery having encountered 72 metres of net oil pay 
in two turbidite fans. Results of drilling, wireline logs 
and samples of reservoir fluids show that the well has 
encountered good quality reservoir sands on prognosis”.

The objective of the Zaedyus well was to test whether 
the Jubilee-play off-shore Ghana, successfully established 
in West Africa, was mirrored on the other side of the 
Atlantic. This theory has now been confirmed by the 
discovery and indicates the opening of a new frontier 
basin in Guyane.

Evaluation, including a resource assessment, is ongoing 
from information obtained from the well, the results 
of which will determine the future campaign to be 
conducted over the Guyane maritime Permit covering  
an area of approximately 30,000 square kilometres. 

Five other fan prospects have been mapped resulting 
from the extensive 3-d survey acquired by the partnership 
during 2009/2010, namely, Priodontes, dasypus, 
Bradypus, Formis and cebus. Outside the 3-d zone there 
also lies the matamata prospect, a very large structural 
four-way-dip closure. 

The Zaedyus discovery substantially de-risks the existing 
prospect inventory and Wessex has high expectations 
of the future of this major project which according to 
Tullow “marks the start of a significant and potentially 
transformational long term exploration and appraisal 
campaign”.

Juan De nova est 

The island of Juan de Nova lies in the mozambique 
channel and is an overseas territory of France which 
claims a large exclusive economic zone around the 
island. A small French garrison and some meteorological 
scientists inhabit the atoll and are supported logistically 
from the much larger island of Reunion in the western 
indian Ocean.

The Juan de Nova Est permit, comprising 9,100 square 
kilometres is 70% held by Wessex with Global Petroleum 
holding the remaining 30%.

A thick stratigraphic section of sedimentary and volcanic 
rocks ranging from Permian to Tertiary underlies the 
permit area and the geology suggests the existence of 
at least two and possibly three different hydrocarbon 
systems in the region.

desk top and other studies continue on the project and 
Wessex has recently purchased field tapes of a seismic 
line, part of a survey shot in 2001, over the whole of the 
exclusive economic zone of Juan de Nova. Work is being 
conducted to improve the original data by re-processing 
this information set.

The terms of this permit require substantial investment  
by Wessex and a farm-out campaign, managed by ENVOi, 
a company offering specialist marketing and advisory 
services to the oil and gas industry and commissioned 
by Wessex is showing major promise to date. Proposals 
have been received and management is considering these 
offers which will assist in our commitment to fulfilling  
the future work obligations in return for an equity interest 
in the project.

The Zaedyus

an oil discovery having
encountered 72 metres

of net oil in two turbidite fans

exploration well made
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southern england

Wessex currently has interests of 50% and 25% in 
two Petroleum Exploration and development Licences 
(“PEdLs”) located in Southern England, PEdLs 238  
and 239 respectively. For strategic reasons our interests  
in PEdL O89 were relinquished during Q3 2011. 

The PEdLs are operated by NWE mirrabooka, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Norwest Energy NL, based in Perth, 
Western Australia and listed on the Australian Stock 
Exchange.

NWE mirrabooka and Wessex have applied for an 
extensive area of Bournemouth Bay, to the east of the 
Wytch Farm oilfield, in the 26th UK Seaward Licensing 
Round. The licence application is for an area covering 
multiple part-blocks between the mainland licences  
PEdL 238 and the isle of Wight licence PEdL 239.  
The results of these applications are expected in late  
2011 or early 2012.

The Wessex Basin of Southern England is a well known 
and proven hydrocarbon province, with a number of 
small oil and gas accumulations and one giant Wytch 
Farm oilfield which has produced over 440 million barrels 
of oil to date.

The principal reservoirs are the sands of the Triassic 
Sherwood Sandstone, also the main reservoir at Wytch 
Farm, along with the Lower Jurassic Bridport Sandstone.

An integral part of the exploration strategy devised  
by NWE mirrabooka for Southern England has been  
to acquire a large amount of high resolution gravity  
data, both ground based and airborne and use this  
data to assist in interpreting the geological structure  
in areas where seismic information is of poor quality.

A detailed screening and geophysical review of the 
licences was conducted by the operator in 2009/2010 
that identified a number of exploration leads which 
warrant further exploration.

A competent Person’s Report, conducted by molten 
Limited, written in march 2011 for the purpose of the 
Aim flotation, shows a gross unrisked P50 potential 
Prospective Resource for the UK portfolio of the current 
interests held by Wessex of approximately 100 million 
barrels of oil.

Wessex and its partners on the PEdLs will continue 
evaluation with an objective to prove up the existing 
leads, with a view to drilling over the next two years.

The Wessex Basin

 is a well known and
proven hydrocarbon province

of Southern England

chairman’s statement (continued)
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Western sahara

Wessex holds a 50% equity interest in the large offshore 
Guelta and onshore Bojador blocks respectively.

The United Nations considers Western Sahara to be  
a Non-Self-Governing territory; jurisdiction over the 
territory is disputed between morocco to the north 
and the Saharawi Arab democratic Republic (“SAdR”) 
proclaimed in 1976 by the Polisario Front.

The SAdR conducted its first oil and gas licence 
exploration round in 2005. maghreb Exploration Limited, 
a wholly owned subsidiary of Wessex was awarded 
operatorship of the licences in the form of Production 
Sharing contracts.

if and when political status of the SAdR is resolved  
the potential of the area can be explored.

corporate

The ordinary shares of Wessex are now traded on Aim  
on the London Stock Exchange following the move from 
the PLUS-market.

An oversubscribed open offer and placing in November 
2010 raised £1.875 million before expenses and a 
successful institutional placing conducted in march 2011 
at the same time as the Aim admission raised £3.0 
million before expenses ensuring the company’s financial 
capability to fund the initial Guyane drilling programme 
and to progress other exploration activities. in addition, 
we remain debt free.

The Zaedyus discovery is a company changing event and 
i would like to make it very clear that Wessex has every 
intention of remaining part of this consortium to enable 
shareholders to benefit further from the expected positive 
outcome of any appraisal drilling and future development. 
Therefore it is important that the company has the 
flexibility to react without delay to the requirements  
of the project and the resolutions proposed at the AGm 
are for this purpose.

summary 

Significant progress has been made during the year  
and i am very pleased for the shareholders who have 
supported us during the drilling of the Zaedyus well.

There is no in-between status in the speculative world  
of oil exploration – it is a make or break situation.  
On a personal basis i have taken immense pleasure  
in the success of Wessex to date.

The Zaedyus discovery has cemented a more than  
positive future for Wessex going forward and the  
Aim flotation has been a tremendous success at  
time of writing showing a significant increase in the  
share price even during difficult market conditions.

The exploration portfolio and strategy put together  
in the early days of the formation of Wessex are set  
on firm foundations and i am confident further good 
news on our projects, in particular Guyane will be 
forthcoming in the future.

David Bramhill 
chairman

26 October 2011

The ordinary shares

now traded on Aim on the
London Stock Exchange

of Wessex Exploration are
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Wessex holds a net 1.25% interest in the Exclusive Exploration Licence (EEL) 
covering an approximate 30,000 square kilometre offshore area of Guyane  
(a French prefecture previously called French Guiana). Tullow, the operator 
holds (27.5%), Shell (45%) and Total (25%). The EEL interest is held via a 50/50 
joint venture between Wessex and Northern Petroleum Plc, using Northpet 
investments Limited as the holding company with a total interest of 2.5% held.

The Zaedyus well was spudded in march 2011 and drilled 
on the Guyane maritime Licence using the ENScO 8503 
deep water semi-submersible rig. The well was drilled 
in water depths of 2,048 metres drilled to a depth of 
approximately 6,000 metres.

On 9 September 2011, Tullow issued a news release 
stating that the Zaedyus exploration well, Gm-ES-1 drilled 
on the EEL had made an oil discovery having encountered 
72 metres of net pay in two turbidite fans. Results of 
drilling, wireline logs and samples of reservoir fluids 
showed that the well had encountered good quality 
reservoir sands on prognosis.

Review of Operations

Guyane:
new hydrocarbon

basin

oil discovery opens a

Wessex 1.25%

Guyane

Guyane Maritime permit  
in regional context
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The objective of the Zaedyus well was to test whether the 
Jubilee play, successfully established in West Africa was 
mirrored on the other side of the Atlantic. This discovery 
opens a new hydrocarbon basin within Guyane.

The EEL holds five other fan prospects resulting from 
mapping 3-d seismic which was shot during 2009/2010 
covering an area of some 2,500 square kilometres. These 
prospects, believed to be each as large as the Zaedyus fan 
are named, Priodontes, dasypus, Bradypus, Formis and 
cebus. in addition, outside the 3-d zone there lies the 
matamata prospect a very large structural four-way-dip 
closure. Evaluation is continuing in respect of the Zaedyus 
well in addition to planning for future exploration and 
development of the EEL.

The Guyane offshore basin is an Atlantic passive 
continental margin. Since the early days of plate tectonic 
theory, numerous research papers have postulated that 
the Guyane-Northeast Brazil margin was conjugate 
to the West African margin comprising Guinea, Sierra 
Leone, Liberia, ivory coast and Ghana. This margin has 
developed in several stages. 

during the opening of the Atlantic Ocean in Jurassic and 
early cretaceous times, the north-western part of the 
margin, with the Suriname margin formed the southern 
extremity of the central Atlantic rift. As rifting began in 
the early Albian, Guyane was juxtaposed against west 
Africa. Overlapping with the later part of this rifting during 
the early cretaceous, southern Africa started to move 
anticlockwise relative to southern South America, resulting 
in shearing between Africa and South America which led 
to the opening of the Equatorial Atlantic Ocean.

The figure shows the prevailing view of the palaeo-
continents prior to the opening of the present day 
Atlantic Ocean.

For many years it has been reported that the Suriname-
Guyane Basin has all the elements to become a major 
hydrocarbon province.

The partners in the Guyane maritime permit have put 
considerable effort and finance into basin modelling  
and the drilling of the Zaedyus well, the results of which 
has opened the potential for a new frontier basin in  
due course.

Guyane
end-aptian 
juxtaposition of 
guyane and West 
africa

Guyane Maritime eel
prospects and leads 

the ensco 8503 deep water 
semi-submersible rig
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Norwest Energy NL (“Norwest”) an Australian Stock 
Exchange listed company, the operator of these licences, 
completed a high resolution ground gravity survey of 
PEdL 238 and subsequently meshed the results with a 
previously acquired air gravity survey flown over PEdL 239 
in early 2009. The airborne survey is the first of its type 
used in hydrocarbon exploration in the United Kingdom.

Following interpretation the results of the surveys have 
revealed several prospects and leads. Work is also 
continuing with the interpretation of the legacy land 
survey data acquired in the area by previous operators.

Work is continuing on both regional evaluation as well  
as specific prospect and lead mapping and de-risking.

in April 2010 Norwest completed an economic scoping 
study and resource evaluation in respect of the Southern 
England licences held. Several promising on-shore leads 
were identified which could be matured for future drilling. 

According to molten Limited, the authors of the 
competent Persons Report used for Aim admission,  
the potential Prospective Resource P50 case is in excess of 
100 million barrels gross unrisked. The economic scoping 
study conducted by Norwest determined the minimum 
volume of 400,000 barrels of oil as a commercial 
threshold for future UK on-shore discoveries. The scoping 
study was conducted over a range of current onshore 
producing fields throughout the UK provided a matrix 
of economic results which enabled the joint venture to 
decide to proceed with further appraisal work.

 

in Southern England, work continued on two on-shore licences, PEdLs 238 
and 239 in which Wessex holds 50% and 25% interests respectively.

United Kingdom:
Resource P50 case is in excess

  of 100 million barrels

the potential Prospective 

peDl 238 
Wessex 50%

peDl 239 
Wessex 25%

United Kingdom

schematic map showing 
oil generation in the 
liassic kitchen and 
possible migration routes 
with secondary migration 
routes out of Wytch Farm

Review of Operations
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The resource evaluation has determined that every one 
of the leads identified has the potential to exceed the 
minimum threshold indicated. 

The Wessex Basin contains the UK’s largest onshore  
oil and gas field, Wytch Farm, which has produced  
in excess of 440 million barrels of oil from the Lower 
Jurassic Bridport Sands and the main Sherwood 
Sandstone reservoir. 

Since Wytch Farm’s discovery in 1973, no other 
significant oil field has been found in the Wessex Basin, 
which remains under-explored. On-shore England has 
been overshadowed by the larger North Sea petroleum 
province, but as working the North Sea becomes more 
difficult and more expensive, this is likely to change.  
The confirmation of the leads is a major advance and 
indicates the potential for multiple drillable prospects 
within our permit areas. 

A regional study has confirmed that the oil source is 
likely to be in the deep channel Basin, lying south of 
the Purbeck Fault Zone. The Wessex licences are ideally 
situated to entrap any oil generated and migrating 
northwards and eastwards from this basin.

The joint venture parties have applied for a licence in the 
United Kingdom 26th Offshore Bid Round over the off-
shore area immediately south of our current interests on 
the mainland. This area has not previously been opened 
in an area-wide bid round. The Group has already met 
with the UK government department of Energy and 
climate change (dEcc), and we are expecting to receive 
the results of our application in late 2011 or early 2012.

The off-shore potential identified is a direct consequence 
of our regional mapping for the evaluation of the 
on-shore licences, and shows a large target with high 
potential to have entrapped secondary migrating 
hydrocarbons from the eastern end of the Wytch Farm  
oil field.
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prospect Wessex interest Geological age prospective resources cos %
Low case median case 

(P50)
High case

peDl 238

Hammerjaw 50% Triassic Sherwood 5.0 9.1 16.5 10.8

Jurassic Bridport 2.2 4.4 8.4 13

Beluga 50% Triassic Sherwood 3.2 5.9 10.4 8

Jurassic Bridport 1.7 3.0 5.2 10.5

mooneye 50% Triassic Sherwood 8.2 15.3 27.6 4

Jurassic Bridport 20.2 38.6 70.4 8

coho 50% Triassic Sherwood 2.8 5.2 9.6 4

Jurassic Bridport 2.8 5.6 10.6 7

Sockeye 50% Triassic Sherwood 4.4 7.8 13.6 5

peDl 239

Razorback 25% Triassic Sherwood 1.0 2.5 6.0 10.4

Jurassic Great Oolite 0.82 2.9 9.1 12.1
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in 2008, a group of companies led by Wessex, was 
awarded the Juan de Nova Est Permit by the government. 
This permit is for the exploration and production of 
hydrocarbons in the Exclusive Economic Zone of the  
island of Juan de Nova. 

Wessex holds 70% equity in the permit. The remaining 
30% equity is held by Aim quoted Global Petroleum 
Limited. 

Wessex has assembled and evaluated as much data as is 
reasonably available at present and has made a first pass 
interpretation of the prospectivity of the permit. Wessex  
is now looking to find a partner to take an equity interest 
in the permit and to assume operatorship.

in January 2011, ENVOi, a company offering specialist 
marketing and advisory services to the international oil 
and gas industry was commissioned with the scope to 
source suitable farminees to the project.

The permit has an initial exploration period of five years, 
and a further production period of 25 years. The permit 
is a near triangular shape with an area of approximately 
9,100 square kilometres. At least half of the permit lies  
in shallow water on the continental shelf of the island  
of madagascar; the rest lies in deeper water, up to 1,500 
metres. A thick stratigraphic section of sedimentary and 
volcanic rocks ranging in age from Permian to Tertiary 
underlies the permit, and the geology on-shore and 
adjacent on the island of madagascar suggests the 
existence of at least two and possibly three different 
hydrocarbon systems in the area. interpretation of satellite 
radar images shows several oil seeps immediately adjacent 
to, as well as on the permit area. 

Planned future work on the permit includes the 
acquisition and re-processing of existing 2-d seismic shot 
by TGS-Nopec in 2001 and the subsequent funding of 
3,000 kilometres of new 2-d seismic.

This exercise will significantly improve the quality of 
data currently held by Wessex and will enable the most 
prospective areas of the permit to be defined. The 
primary leads and prospects mapped will then be targeted 
by the acquisition of new 3-d infill data during 2012 with 
a view to drilling in 2013.

The island (atoll) of Juan de Nova lies to the northwest of madagascar in the 
mozambique channel. The island is an overseas territory of France which claims 
a large exclusive economic zone around the island. A small French garrison 
and some meteorological scientists inhabit the atoll, and they are supported 
logistically from the much larger island of Reunion in the western indian Ocean.

 

 
Wessex 70%

Juan De nova est
(Mozambique channel)

Juan De nova est permit
seasat off-shore oil seep map, 
northwest madagascar. polygon in 
yellow is Juan de nova est permit 
outline. green dots are possible oil 
seeps indicated from satellite radar 
interpretation. red square outlines  
are seasat image coverage

Review of Operations
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in march 2006, maghreb Exploration, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wessex, 
together with two other UK companies were awarded by the Government of 
the Saharawi Arab democratic Republic (SAdR) a production sharing contract 
over the on-shore Bojador block covering 9,880,000 acres.

in early 2007, a transaction was signed whereby comet 
Petroleum, 100% (a subsidiary of Tower Resources plc), 
holder of the offshore Guelta block, agreed to cross-
assignment of interests with the Bojador block group. 
in addition, Wessex was assigned a larger equity in 
the Bojador block, and now holds 50% equity in both 
licences. 

in November 2010, Wessex and Tower Resources plc 
submitted an application for the imlili licence a shallow 
water block covering 16,965 square kilometres and 
located east of Guelta. 

Technical evaluation of the blocks using existing datasets 
is ongoing and expenditures for the two licences are 
being kept to an absolute minimum, until such time as 
morocco and the Polisario Front, under United Nations 
auspices, reach a settlement of the issue of sovereignty  
of the Western Sahara.

The focus of previous exploration in the region has been 
the Aaiun Basin, one of a number of mature passive 
margin basins that lie along the edge of north-western 
Africa. This basin is approximately 1,100 kilometres in 
length, running from the cape Blanc Fracture Zone in 
northern mauritania to where the South Atlas fault meets 
the intersection of the North canary island Fracture Zone.

in the mSGBc (mauritania-Senegal-Gambia-Bissau-
conkary) Basin to the south, discoveries have been  
made, including the miocene age chinguetti field, 
brought onstream by Woodside Petroleum in 2006. 
Pelican, an Upper cretacious gas discovery by dana 
Petroleum in 2003 is the most northerly of these 
discoveries.

To give some scale of the licences held, the size of the 
on-shore Bojador block alone approximates the size  
of Wales.

 
Wessex 50%

Western sahara

Guelta and  
Bojador Blocks
Wessex hold a 50% 
interest in the off-
shore guelta block 
(yellow) and the large 
on-shore bojador 
block (yellow)
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Governance

report of the Directors
for the year ended 30 June 2011

The directors present their report together with the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended  
30 June 2011.

principal activities
Wessex Exploration PLc is a UK registered energy company, 
focused on the exploration and future development of 
hydrocarbon projects.

Financial risk Management and objectives
The Group uses various financial instruments including 
cash and items such as debtors and creditors that arise 
directly from its operations. The existence of these financial 
instruments exposes the Group to a number of financial  
risks, which are described in notes 15 and 16 of the 
consolidated financial statements.

Business review
A review of the Group and company operations during the 
year ended 30 June 2011 is contained in the chairman’s 
Statement and Review of Operations.

The loss for the year amounted to £1,336,845 (2010: 
£388,895). The directors do not recommend the payment  
of a dividend (2010: £nil).

principal risks and Uncertainties
Although the directors have extensive experience in the 
acquisition and development of assets similar to those held 
by the company, as with all companies within the energy 
sector the business of oil and gas development involves 
varying degrees of risk. These risks include operating 
reliance, in some cases on third parties, the ability to exploit 
discoveries, commercial, environmental and regulatory, 
economic, foreign exchange, competition, reliance on key 
personnel, joint venture party and contractor and judicial 
factors. The directors believe that they have mitigated the 
typical risks as far as reasonably practicable – by maintaining 
strong relationships with joint venture partners and project 
operators, implementing internal controls and continually 
reviewing and seeking to improve such controls as well as 
business processes and procedures.

Key performance indicators
The Group has made progress during the year ended  
30 June 2011, concentrating on its overriding objectives  
to build on its hydrocarbon exploration portfolio and 
progress its project interests.

Specifically, the Group has seen excellent progress in respect 
of Guyane where both Shell Exploration & Production and 
Total S.A. have farmed into the project operated by Tullow 
Oil plc. An exploration well has been drilled in Guyane of 
which the results are discussed in the chairman’s Statement 
and Review of Operations.

in addition work has been completed over the Southern UK 
and Juan de Nova licence interests held which the directors 
believe has added value. 

Directors
The directors in office at the end of the year, and their 
interests in the shares of the company as at 1 July 2010  
and 30 June 2011, were as shown in the table below.

 orDinary shares
 30 June 1 July 
 2011 2010

mr F dekker 98,251,506 98,271,506 

mr d Bramhill 4,000,000 4,000,000

mr A Yeo 730,000 –

 share options
 30 June 1 July Weighted Range of Weighted 
 2011  2010 average  exercise average 
   exercise prices contractual 
   price  life

mr F dekker 5,000,000 – 5p 5p 3 years

mr d Bramhill 5,000,000 – 5p 5p 3 years

mr A Yeo 5,000,000 – 5p 5p 3 years

details of individual share option grants are shown in the 
table below.

Grant date: 21 december 2010

 Number of  Exercise Vesting Expiry 
 options  price date date 
 granted   

mr F dekker 5,000,000 5p 21 december  21 december 
   2013 2020

mr d Bramhill 5,000,000 5p 21 december  21 december 
   2013  2020

mr A Yeo 5,000,000 5p 21 december  21 december 
   2013 2020

mr A Yeo was appointed as a director on 21 October 2010.

mr T Heeley resigned as a director on 2 december 2010.
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Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration of the directors for the year ended  
30 June 2011 was as follows:

 salaries anD fees
 2011 2010 
 £ £

mr F dekker 102,917 50,417

mr d Bramhill 76,250 32,083

mr A Yeo 46,667 –

mr T Heeley 14,583 32,083

in addition to the remuneration shown above, the Group 
incurred share based payment charges of £102,611 (2010: 
£nil) in respect of the above named directors.

A copy of the Service Agreement in respect of mr F dekker is 
available for inspection at the company’s Registered Office.

annual General Meeting
The Annual General meeting of the company will be held  
on 6 december 2011 in accordance with the Notice 
of Annual General meeting on page 54. details of the 
resolutions to be passed are included in this notice.

post Balance sheet events
No significant post balance sheet events have taken place 
since 30 June 2011.

payment policy and practice
it is the Group’s policy to pay suppliers on the terms  
agreed with them. Average creditor days during the year  
was 14 (2010:14).

auditors
A resolution to reappoint Nexia Smith & Williamson will be 
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General meeting.

Disclosure of information to the auditors
The directors at the date of approval of this Annual Report 
individually confirm that:

•	 so	far	as	the	director	is	aware,	there	is	no	relevant	
audit information of which the company’s auditors are 
unaware; and

•	 the	director	has	taken	all	the	steps	that	he	ought	to	 
have taken as a director in order to make himself aware 
of any relevant audit information and to establish that  
the company’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted 
in accordance with the provision of Section 418 of the 
companies Act 2006.

company name and registered number
The registered number of Wessex Exploration PLc is 
3793723.

On behalf of the Board

Frederik Dekker
director

26 October 2011
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statement of Directors’ responsibilities
for the year ended 30 June 2011

 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Report of the 
directors and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

company law requires the directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements  
in accordance with applicable law and international Financial 
Reporting Standards (iFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union and the Parent company Financial Statements in 
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Reporting Standards 
and applicable law).

Under company law the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give  
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company 
and of the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group  
for that period. in preparing these financial statements,  
the directors are required to:

•	 select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	apply	them	
consistently;

•	 make	judgments	and	accounting	estimates	that	are	
reasonable and prudent;

•	 state	whether	applicable	IFRSs	as	adopted	by	the	
European Union have been followed subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the 
consolidated financial statements;

•	 state	whether	applicable	UK	Accounting	Standards	
have been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the parent company financial 
statements; and

•	 prepare	the	financial	statements	on	the	going	concern	
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
company and the Group will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the company’s and the Group’s transactions and disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the company and the Group and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the companies 
Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the company and the Group and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the company’s website. Legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination  
of financial statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.
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for the year ended 30 June 2011

The company’s securities are traded on the Aim market of the 
London Stock Exchange (“Aim”). The Group has considered 
the Quoted company Alliance (“QcA”) corporate governance 
guidelines for Aim companies as published in September 2010.

Following is a brief description of the role of the Board and 
its committees, followed by details of the Group’s systems of 
internal financial control, which the Board continue to keep 
under review.

the Board
during the year the Board of directors of Wessex Exploration 
PLc consisted of two non-executive directors and one executive 
director who were responsible for the proper management  
of the Group. 

The Board will meet at least four times in the coming year to 
review trading performance and budgets, ensure adequate 
funding, set and monitor strategy, examine acquisition 
opportunities and report to shareholders. The Board has 
a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to it for 
decisions. 

The following committees deal with specific aspects of the 
Group’s affairs:

remuneration committee
The Remuneration committee comprises two non-executive 
directors: david Bramhill, who acts as its chairman, and 
Andrew Yeo. it determines the employment terms and 
total remuneration of the executive director and senior 
management.

The committee makes recommendations to the Board on 
overall remuneration for the executive director in order to 
attract, retain and motivate high quality executives capable 
of achieving the Group’s objectives. The package comprises 
basic salary and share options. No performance related bonus 
or pensions are currently paid. directors’ remuneration for the 
year is shown in the Report of the directors and note 20 on 
page 41.

Those disclosures form part of this report.

The Board determines the remuneration of the non-executive 
directors.

audit committee
The Audit committee comprises Andrew Yeo, who acts as its 
chairman, and david Bramhill. The committee is responsible 
for considering a wide range of financial matters. it monitors 
the controls that are in place to ensure the integrity of the 
financial information reported to shareholders.

This committee also provides a forum for reporting by the 
Group’s auditors. The executive directors attend meetings  
by invitation.

internal Financial control
The directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
the Group’s internal financial control systems. These are 
designed to meet the particular needs of the Group and the 
risks to which it is exposed, and by their nature can provide 
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The key procedures that the directors have established to 
provide effective internal financial controls are:

•	 corporate accounting and procedures  
Responsibilities are communicated throughout the Group as 
part of the corporate communication procedure. delegation 
of authority and authorisation limits, segregation of duties 
and other control procedures, together with the company 
culture are included in these communications, and standard 
accounting procedures are in place to reflect this.

•	 Quality and integrity of personnel  
The integrity and competence of personnel is ensured 
through high recruitment standards and subsequent 
training. The quality of personnel is regarded as a critical 
part of the control environment and the ethical standards 
expected are communicated through senior members of 
staff and other communication channels.

•	 identification of Business risks 
The Board is responsible for identifying the major  
business risks faced by the Group and for determining  
the appropriate course of action to manage these risks.

•	 Financial reporting 
The Group has a comprehensive system for reporting 
financial results to the Board.

•	 investment appraisal 
capital expenditure is regulated by authorisation limits. For 
expenditure beyond the specified limits, detailed proposals 
are submitted to the Board. if an interest in a new project  
is being acquired, appropriate due diligence is undertaken.

•	 audit committee 
The Audit committee monitors through reports made to it, 
the controls that are in force and any perceived gaps in the 
control environment. The Audit committee also considers 
and determines relevant action in respect of any control 
issues raised by the external auditors.

Going concern
The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group 
has adequate resources to enable it to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they 
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
accounts.

By order of the Board 
 
Brian Marshall Fca 
company Secretary

26 October 2011
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independent auditors’ report 
to the Members of Wessex exploration plc

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
Wessex Exploration PLc (“the company“) for the year ended 
30 June 2011 which comprise the Principal Accounting 
Policies, the consolidated income Statement, consolidated 
Statement of comprehensive income, consolidated Balance 
Sheet, consolidated Statement of changes in Equity, 
consolidated cash Flow Statement and the related notes 
1 to 27. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in the preparation of the group financial statements 
is applicable law and international Financial Reporting 
Standards (iFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as 
a body, in accordance with chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report,  
or for the opinions we have formed.

respective responsibilities of Directors  
and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ 
Responsibilities set out on page 14, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
international Standards on Auditing (UK and ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

scope of the audit of the Financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements 
is provided on the APB’s website at www.frc.org.uk/apb/
scope/private.cfm.

opinion on Financial statements
in our opinion:

•	 the	consolidated	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	
view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 30 June 
2011 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

•	 the	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	properly	
prepared in accordance with iFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union; 

•	 the	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	
in accordance with the requirements of the companies 
Act 2006.

opinion on other Matters prescribed  
by the companies act 2006
in our opinion the information given in the Report of the 
directors’ for the financial year for which the consolidated 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements.

Matters on Which we are required  
to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the companies Act 2006 requires us to report 
to you if, in our opinion:

•	 certain	disclosures	of	directors’	remuneration	specified	by	
law are not made; or

•	 we	have	not	received	all	the	information	and	explanations	
we require for our audit.

other Matter
We have reported separately on the Parent company 
financial statements of Wessex Exploration PLc for the year 
ended 30 June 2011.

natasha lee

Senior Statutory Auditor, 
for and on behalf of

 
 
Statutory Auditor  
chartered Accountants  
25 moorgate 
London 
Ec2R 6AY 

26 October 2011
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principal accounting policies
for the year ended 30 June 2011

Basis of preparation
The annual consolidated financial statements of Wessex 
Exploration PLc (“the Group”) have been prepared in 
accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards 
(“iFRS”) as adopted by the European Union (“EU”) applied in 
accordance with the provisions of the companies Act 2006. 

The policies have changed from the previous year when the 
financial statements were prepared under applicable United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“UK 
GAAP”). The comparative information has been restated  
in accordance with iFRS. The changes to accounting policies 
are explained in note 26 together with the reconciliation  
of opening balances in note 27. The date of transition  
to iFRS was 1 July 2009 (“transition date”).

iFRS is subject to amendment and interpretation by  
the international Accounting Standards Board (“iASB”)  
and the iFRS interpretations committee, and there is  
an ongoing process of review and endorsement by the 
European commission. These accounting policies comply 
with each iFRS that is mandatory for accounting periods 
ending on 30 June 2011. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention. The principal accounting policies 
set out below have been consistently applied to all periods 
presented.

iFrs transition
iFRS 1, First-time Adoption of international Financial 
Reporting Standards (“iFRS 1”) permits companies adopting 
iFRS for the first time to take certain exemptions from the full 
retrospective application of iFRS. No exemptions have been 
taken in preparing these financial statements. The disclosures 
required by iFRS 1 concerning the transition from UK GAAP 
to iFRS are given in note 27.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results 
of the company and entities controlled by the company (its 
subsidiary). control is achieved where the company has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

These financial statements consolidate the results and 
Balance Sheet of the company and its wholly owned 
subsidiary using the acquisition method of accounting. 

Entities whose economic activities are controlled jointly by 
the Group and by other ventures independent of the Group 
are accounted for using equity accounting.

intra-Group transactions with its subsidiary are eliminated  
on consolidation. Transactions, balances, income and 
expenses with Jointly controlled Operations are eliminated  
to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.

Jointly controlled operations
The Group participates in several Jointly controlled 
Operations (unincorporated Joint Ventures) which involve 
the joint control of assets used in the Group’s oil and gas 
exploration and producing activities. The Group accounts 
for its share of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure of 
Jointly controlled Operations in which it holds an interest, 
classified in the appropriate Balance Sheet and income 
Statement headings. 

A list of the Group’s interests in unincorporated Joint 
controlled Operations is given in note 9. 

Jointly controlled entities
Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment  
of a separate entity in which each venturer has an interest 
are referred to as jointly controlled entities. 

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled 
entities are incorporated in these financial statements using 
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, 
investments in jointly controlled entities are carried in the 
consolidated Balance Sheet at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets 
of the jointly controlled entities, less any impairment in the 
value of individual investments. 

Losses of a jointly controlled entity in excess of the Group’s 
interest in that jointly controlled entity (which includes any 
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the 
Group’s net investment in the jointly controlled entity) are 
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf 
of the jointly controlled entity.

Where a Group entity transacts with a jointly controlled 
entity of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to 
the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant jointly 
controlled entity.

Finance income
interest is recognised using the effective interest method 
which calculates the amortised cost of a financial asset 
and allocates the interest income over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life  
of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset. 
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principal accounting policies
for the year ended 30 June 2011

cash and cash equivalents
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits 
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised  
on the Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party  
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Trade and other receivables are measured at initial 
recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured  
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
A provision is established when there is objective evidence 
that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts 
due. The amount of any provision is recognised in the 
consolidated income Statement. 

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, 
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using  
the effective interest rate method. 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the company are 
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Foreign currency
The functional and presentational currency for both 
the company’s financial statements and the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements is Sterling and it is this 
currency in which the Group reports. Foreign currency 
transactions by Group companies are recorded in their 
functional currencies at the exchange rate at the date of 
the transaction. monetary assets and liabilities have been 
translated at rates in effect at the balance sheet date,  
with any exchange adjustments being charged or credited  
to the income Statement.

exploration costs
The Group follows a successful efforts based accounting 
policy for oil and gas assets. 

costs (including research costs) incurred prior to obtaining 
the legal rights to explore an area are expensed immediately 
to the income Statement.

Expenditure incurred on the acquisition of a licence interest 
is initially capitalised on a licence by licence basis. costs are 
held, un-depleted, within exploration costs until such a time 
as the exploration phase on the licence area is complete or 
commercial reserves have been discovered.

Exploration expenditure incurred in the process of 
determining exploration targets is capitalised initially within 
intangible assets as exploration costs. Exploration costs are 
initially capitalised on a well by well basis until the success  
or otherwise has been established. The success or failure  
of each exploration/evaluation effort is judged on a well  
by well basis. drilling costs are written off on completion  
of a well unless the results indicate that hydrocarbon reserves 
exist and there is reasonable prospect that these reserves  
are commercially viable. 

All such costs are subject to regular technical, commercial 
and management review on at least an annual basis to 
confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract 
value from the discovery. Where this is no longer the case, 
the costs are immediately expensed.

Following evaluation of successful exploration wells, if 
commercial reserves are established and the technical 
feasibility of extraction demonstrated, and once a project  
is sanctioned for commercial development, then the related 
capitalised exploration/evaluation costs are transferred into 
a single field cost centre within development/producing 
assets after testing for impairment within Property, Plant 
and Equipment. Where results of exploration drilling indicate 
the presence of hydrocarbons which are ultimately not 
considered commercially viable, all related costs are written 
off to the income Statement.

All costs incurred after the technical feasibility and 
commercial viability of producing hydrocarbons has been 
demonstrated are capitalised within development/producing 
assets on a field by field basis. Subsequent expenditure 
is capitalised only where it either enhances the economic 
benefits of the development/producing asset or replaces 
part of the existing development/producing asset. Any costs 
remaining associated with the part replaced are expensed.

Net proceeds from any disposal of an exploration asset  
are initially credited against the previously capitalised costs. 
Any surplus proceeds are credited to the income Statement. 

Plug and suspend and demobilisation costs have been 
included within the exploration costs where the directors 
consider that these costs will be material at the end of  
each project’s life.
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property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost 
less depreciation less any recognised impairment losses. 
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition or construction of these items. Subsequent costs 
are included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the Group and the costs can be measured 
reliably. All other costs, including repairs and maintenance 
costs, are charged to the income Statement in the period  
in which they are incurred. 

depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment 
and is calculated on a reducing basis as follows:

Plant and equipment  25%

depreciation is provided on cost less residual value. The 
residual value, depreciation methods and useful lives are 
annually reassessed.

Each asset’s estimated useful life has been assessed with 
regard to both its own physical life limitations and the 
present assessment of economically recoverable reserves 
of the mine property at which the item is located, and to 
possible future variations in those assessments. Estimates 
of remaining useful lives are made on a regular basis for 
all mine buildings, machinery and equipment, with annual 
reassessments for major items. changes in estimates  
which affect unit production calculation are accounted  
for prospectively.

Where property, plant and equipment has been acquired  
for the purposes of exploration, and technical feasibility  
of the project has yet to be established, the depreciation  
on the property, plant and equipment is added back to  
the cost of the intangible assets within exploration costs.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or scrapping of an asset  
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds, 
net of selling costs, and the carrying amount of the asset  
and is recognised in the income Statement. 

impairment of assets other than intangible 
assets with an indefinite life
At each balance sheet date, the directors review the carrying 
amounts of the Group’s tangible and intangible assets, other 
than intangible assets with an indefinite life, to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. if any such indication exists,  
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order  
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where 
the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent 
from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs  
to sell and value in use. in assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the  
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted. 

if the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,  
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit)  
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss  
is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant 
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only 
to the extent that it does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior 
periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the 
income Statement immediately. 

current taxation
current tax for each taxable entity in the Group is based 
on the local taxable income at the local statutory tax rate 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date 
and includes adjustments to tax payable or recoverable in 
respect of previous periods.

Deferred taxation 
deferred taxation is calculated using the liability method, on 
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements. However, if the deferred tax arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 
loss, it is not recognised. deferred tax is determined using 
tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply 
when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred 
tax liability is settled. 

deferred tax liabilities are provided in full. 

deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
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changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as 
a component of tax expense in the income Statement, except 
where they relate to items that are charged or credited directly 
to equity in which case the related deferred tax is also charged 
or credited directly to equity.

employment Benefits
Provision is made in the financial statements for all employee 
benefits. Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefit and annual leave obliged to be settled 
within 12 months of the balance sheet date, are recognised  
in accruals.

equity
Equity comprises the following:

•	 “Share	capital”	represents	amounts	subscribed	for	shares	
at nominal value.

•	 “Share	premium”	represents	amounts	subscribed	for	share	
capital, net of issue costs, in excess of nominal value.

•	 “Retained	earnings”	represents	the	accumulated	profits	
and losses attributable to equity shareholders.

•	 “Share-based	payment	reserve”	represents	the	
accumulated amounts credited to equity in respect of 
options to acquire ordinary shares in the company.

international Financial reporting standards in issue but not yet effective 
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the iASB and iFRS interpretations committee 
have issued standards, interpretations and amendments which are applicable to the Group. Whilst these standards and 
interpretations are not effective for, and have not been applied in the preparation of, these consolidated financial statements, 
the following may have a material impact going forward.

New/Revised international Financial Reporting 
Standards

Effective date: 
Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after:

EU 
adopted

impact on Wessex Exploration PLc

iAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
— Amendments to revise the way 
other comprehensive income is 
presented

1 July 2012 Yes disclosure only

iAS 24 Revised iAS 24 Related Party 
disclosures

1 January 2011 Yes disclosure only

iFRS 9 Financial instruments: classification 
and measurement

1 January 2013 No
classification and measurement  
of financial instruments

iFRS 10 consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2013 No disclosure only

iFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2013 No disclosure only

iFRS 12 disclosure of interests in Other Entities 1 January 2013 No disclosure only

iFRS 13 Fair Value measurement
1 January 2013 No

measurement of financial 
instruments
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critical accounting Judgments and  
Key sources of estimation Uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting practice requires management 
to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities as well as the disclosure  
of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and  
are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed  
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

reserve estimates

Reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can 
be economically and legally extracted from the Group’s 
properties. in order to calculate the reserves, estimates 
and assumptions are required about a range of geological, 
technical and economic factors, including quantities, 
production techniques, recovery rates, production costs, 
transport costs, commodity demand, commodity prices and 
exchange rates.

Estimating the quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the 
size, shape and depth of fields to be determined by analysing 
geological data such as drilling samples. This process may 
require complex and difficult geological judgements and 
calculations to interpret the data.

Given the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves 
change from period to period, and because additional 
geological data is generated during the course of operations, 
estimates of reserves may change from period to period. 
changes in reported reserves may affect the Group’s 
financial results and financial position in a number of ways, 
including the following:

•	 Asset	carrying	values	may	be	affected	by	possible	
impairment due to adverse changes in estimated future 
cash flows;

•	 Depreciation,	depletion	and	amortisation	charged	in	the	
income Statement may change where such charges are 
determined by the units of production basis, or where the 
useful economic lives of assets change.

exploration and evaluation costs

The Group’s accounting policy leads to the development  
of tangible and intangible fixed assets, where it is considered 
likely that the amount will be recoverable by future 
exploitation or sale, or alternatively where the activities have 
not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment 
of the existence of reserves. This requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions as to the future events 
and circumstances, especially in relation to whether an 
economically viable extraction operation can be established. 
Such estimates are subject to change and following initial 
capitalisation, should it become apparent that recovery  
of the expenditure is unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount 
will be written off to the income Statement. 

impairment of property, plant and equipment

management reviews property, plant and equipment at 
each balance sheet date to determine whether there are any 
indications of impairment. if any such indication exists, an 
estimate of the recoverable amount is performed, and an 
impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the carrying 
amount exceeds recoverable amount.

share-Based payments

in determining the fair value of equity settled share based 
payments and the related charge to the income Statement, 
the company makes assumptions about future events and 
market conditions; in particular, judgement must be made 
as to the likely number of shares that will vest, and the fair 
value of each award granted. The fair value is determined 
using a valuation model which is dependent on further 
estimates, including the company’s future dividend policy, 
the timing with which options will be exercised and the 
future volatility in the price of the company’s shares.

different assumptions about these factors to those made  
by the company could materially affect the reported value  
of share-based payments.



22 Wessex Exploration PLc   |   Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011

Finance

  Notes 2011 2010 

   £ £

revenue   – –

Administrative expenses   (1,343,085) (363,844)

operating loss  2 (1,343,085) (363,844)

Finance income   4 5,975 344

 

Share of profit / (losses) of joint ventures  10 265 (25,395)

 

loss before taxation   (1,336,845) (388,895)

Taxation   5 – –

 

loss for the financial year   (1,336,845) (388,895)

attributable to:    

Equity shareholders of the company   (1,336,845) (388,895)

loss per share    

Basic and diluted loss per share (pence)  6 (0.35) (0.15)

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2011
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  Notes 2011 2010 

   £ £

Loss for the financial year   (1,336,845) (388,895)

    

other comprehensive income   – –

    

other comprehensive income for the financial year, net of tax   – –

    

total comprehensive income for the financial year   (1,336,845) (388,895)

consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2011

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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 Notes 2011 2010  2009 

  £ £  £

assets   

non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment 7 2,192 2,922 3,652

intangible assets 8 738,963 724,851 106,283

investments in joint ventures 10 1,534,920 214,655 127,250

  2,276,075 942,428 237,185

     

current assets     

Trade and other receivables 11 52,311 263,277 218

cash and cash equivalents 12 2,512,117 313,745 69,157

  2,564,428 577,022 69,375

     

total assets  4,840,503 1,519,450 306,560

     

equity and liabilities    

capital and reserves attributable to the  
company’s equity shareholders     
 

Share capital  13 479,365 304,365 491,304

Share premium account  5,509,935 1,072,507 –

Share-based payments reserve  147,456 – –

Retained earnings  (1,365,852) (29,007) (364,927)

     

total equity  4,770,904 1,347,865 126,377

     

current liabilities     

Trade and other payables  19 69,599 171,585 180,183

total liabilities  69,599 171,585 180,183

     

total equity and liabilities  4,840,503 1,519,450 306,560

 
The financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 26 October 2011 and were signed on its behalf by:

Frederik Dekker

director

consolidated Balance sheet
as at 30 June 2011

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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   share  share-based  
 share premium retained payment  
 capital account earnings reserve total 
 £ £ £ £ £

Balance at 1 July 2010 304,365 1,072,507 (29,007) – 1,347,865

For the financial year ended 30 June 2011     

Loss for the year – – (1,336,845) – (1,336,845)

     

total comprehensive income – – (1,336,845) – (1,336,845)

issue of share capital 175,000 4,700,000 – – 4,875,000

issue costs – (262,572) – – (262,572)

Share option expense – – – 147,456 147,456

Balance at 30 June 2011 479,365 5,509,935 (1,365,852) 147,456 4,770,904

     

Balance at 1 July 2009 491,304 – (364,927) – 126,377

For the financial year ended 30 June 2010     

Loss for the year – – (388,895) – (388,895)

     

total comprehensive income – – (388,895) – (388,895)

capital reduction (340,857) (383,958) 724,815 – –

issue of share capital 153,918 1,463,735 – – 1,617,653

issue costs – (7,270) – – (7,270)

Balance at 30 June 2010 304,365 1,072,507 (29,007) – 1,347,865

consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2011

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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  Notes 2011 2010 

   £ £

cash flow from operating activities  24 (1,157,250) (651,355)

    

cash flow from investing activities    

Purchase of intangible assets   (152,487) (141,232)

investments in joint ventures   (1,110,294) (112,800)

interest received    5,975 344

     

net cash used in investing activities   (1,256,806) (253,688)

     

cash flow from financing activities    

Proceeds on issue of new shares   4,875,000 1,156,901

Expenses of new share issue   (262,572) (7,270)

     

net cash generated from financing activities   4,612,428 1,149,631

    

net increase in cash and cash equivalents   2,198,372 244,588

    

cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year   313,745 69,157

    

cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year  12 2,512,117 313,745

consolidated cash Flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2011

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

1 segmental reporting

operating segments
The Group has only one operating segment: the exploration and future development of hydrocarbon projects, principally  
in the UK and Guyane. 

A split of the geographical segments is as follows:

 UK Guyane other total 
 £ £ £ £

Year ended 30 June 2011

Operating (loss)/profit (1,361,731) – 18,646 (1,343,085)

Finance income 5,975 – – 5,975

Share of profit of joint ventures – 265 – 265

(Loss)/profit before taxation (1,355,756) 265 18,646 (1,336,845)

Taxation – – – –

profit/(loss) for the year (1,355,756) 265 18,646 (1,336,845)

    

Total assets 2,999,888 1,534,920 305,695 4,840,503

Total liabilities (69,599) – – (69,599)

net assets 2,930,289 1,534,920 305,695 4,770,904

    

investment in joint ventures – 1,320,000 – 1,320,000

capital expenditure 91,590 – 60,897 152,487

depreciation and amortisation 730 – – 730

impairment 138,375 – – 138,375

Share-based payment costs 147,456 – – 147,456

 UK Guyane other total 
 £ £ £ £

Year ended 30 June 2010

Operating loss (363,844) – – (363,844)

Finance income 344 – – 344

Share of losses of joint ventures – (25,395) – (25,395)

Loss before taxation (363,500) (25,395)  (388,895)

Taxation – – – –

loss for the year (363,500) (25,395) – (388,895)

    

Total assets 1,140,484 214,655 164,311 1,519,450

Total liabilities (171,585) – – (171,585)

net assets 968,899 214,655 164,311 1,347,865

    

investment in joint ventures – 112,800 – 112,800

capital expenditure  –  

depreciation and amortisation 730 – – 730

 

The results of each segment have been prepared using accounting policies consistent with those of the group as a whole.
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notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

2 operating loss 

   2011 2010 

   £ £

Operating loss is stated after charging / (crediting):    

Fees payable to the company’s auditors for the audit of the annual statements  23,000 10,000

Fees payable to the company’s auditors and its associates for other services to the Group: 

 Other services relating to reporting accountant work in respect of the admission to Aim  70,000 –

 Other services relating to taxation  4,000 2,000

 The audit of the company’s subsidiary pursuant to legislation  2,000 2,000

depreciation  730 730

impairment  138,375 –

Waiver of loans  (92,997) –

Foreign Exchange  (18,264) (309)

    

3 Directors and employees       

 The aggregate payroll costs of the employees, including both management and executive directors, were as follows: 

   2011 2010 

   £ £

staff costs   

Wages and salaries   232,875 116,250

Social security costs   28,292 10,953

   261,167 127,203

Equity settled share-based payments   102,611 –

   363,778 127,203

 

Average monthly number of persons employed by the Group during the year were:

   2011 2010 

   number Number

management   3 3

Administrative   1 –

   4 3

  

   2011 2010 

   £ £

compensation of key management was as follows:   

Short term benefits   240,417 116,250

Share-based payments   83,198 –

   323,615 116,250

Social security costs   28,292 11,437

   351,907 127,687

Key management consists of all the directors.  

details of each director’s remuneration and their share options is included in the Report of the directors.
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notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

3 Directors and employees (continued) 

Highest paid director:

   2011 2010 

   £ £

Aggregate emoluments and benefits   130,650 50,417

    

4 Finance income 

   2011 2010 

   £ £

Bank interest   5,975 344

5 taxation 

There was no current tax charge for the year due to the loss incurred (2010: £nil).

reconciliation of the effective tax rate 

   2011 2010 

   £ £

Loss before taxation   (1,336,845) (388,895)

Loss before tax multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 27.5% (2010: 28%) (374,317) (108,891)

   

tax effects of:   

Other expenses not deductible for tax purposes   127,791 20,492

capital allowances for period in excess of depreciation   441 (204)

Tax losses not utilised within the year   246,085 88,603

 

Tax expense and effective tax rate   – –

The amount of unrecognised deferred tax assets are as follows:   

   2011 2010 

   £ £

Unutilised trading losses   324,309 94,720

    

A deferred tax asset in respect of trading losses has not been recognised due to the uncertainty over timing of future profits

The unprovided deferred tax asset is recoverable against suitable future trading profits.
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6 loss per share
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.  
 
Given the Group’s reported loss for the year share options are not taken into account when determining the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year and therefore the basic and diluted earnings per share are the same.

Basic and diluted loss per share   

   2011 2010 

   pence Pence

Loss per share from continuing operations   (0.35) (0.15)

 

    

 The loss and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows:

   2011 2010 

   £ £

 Earnings used in the calculation of total basic and diluted earnings per share  (1,336,845) (388,895)

 

    

   2011 2010 

   number Number

number of shares   

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic and  

diluted earnings per share   377,515,509 261,553,856

    
if the company’s share options were taken into consideration in respect  
of the company’s weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes  
of diluted earnings per share, it would be as follows:   

number of shares  

Potential dilutive effect of share options and warrants   11,081,880 –

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share  388,597,389 261,553,856

notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 
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7 property, plant and equipment

    plant and 
    equipment 
    £

cost  

At 1 July 2009, 30 June 2010 and 30 June 2011    11,529

    

accumulated depreciation  

At 1 July 2009    7,877

charge     730

   

At 30 June 2010    8,607

charge     730

   

At 30 June 2011    9,337

   

net book value  

At 30 June 2011    2,192

   

At 30 June 2010    2,922

   

notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 
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notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

8 intangible assets 

    exploration costs 

    £

cost 

At 1 July 2009    106,283

Additions    618,568

  

At 30 June 2010    724,851

Additions    152,487

  

At 30 June 2011    877,338

  

amortisation and impairment 

At 1 July 2009 and 30 June 2010    –

impairment    138,375

At 30 June 2011    138,375

  

net book value 

At 30 June 2011    738,963

  

At 30 June 2010    724,851

  

 management review each exploration project for indication of impairment at each balance sheet date. 

Such indications would include written off wells and relinquishment of development acreage.

during the financial year, the company relinquished the PEdL 089 licence that was due to expire in September 2011.  

As a result, the full amount invested in this project of £138,375 has been impaired at the balance sheet date.

At the balance sheet date there were no further indications of impairment on any of the projects.
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notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

9 investment in Jointly controlled operations
The Group has entered into the following unincorporated Jointly controlled Operations, which are proportionally consolidated 
within the Group’s financial statements:

name of project  principal activities  Group interest

PEdL 238  Oil and gas development  50%

PEdL 239  Oil and gas development  25%

SAdR Bojador Block  Oil and gas development  50%

SAdR Guelta Block  Oil and gas development  50%

At the balance sheet dates there were no contingent liabilities or contingent assets in respect of any of the Jointly controlled 
Operations. 

At the balance sheet dates there were no capital commitments in respect of any of the Jointly controlled Operations.

10  investments in Joint Ventures

The company has an investment in the following joint venture undertaking:

 country of principal activity interest accounting 
 incorporation    reference date

Northpet investments Limited England & Wales investment in oil 50% 31 december 
  and gas exploration,    
  development and   
  production opportunities  

 
Northpet investments Limited is a joint venture between Wessex Exploration PLc and NP Offshore Holdings (UK) Limited.  
Each partner owns 50% of the issued share capital of the company.
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notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

10  investments in Joint Ventures (continued)

 The Group’s investment in Joint Ventures at the balance sheet date comprise:

    investments in   
    Joint Ventures   
    £

cost 

As at 1 July 2010    214,655

Additions    1,320,000

  

As at 30 June 2011    1,534,655

Share of Joint Venture operating profit on ordinary activities    265

  

Net investment in Joint Ventures    1,534,920

 

  
The following amounts are included in the Group financial statements within investments as a result of the consolidation  
of Northpet investments Limited:

   2011 2010 

   £ £

income   – –

expenses   265 (25,395)

     

assets    

Non-current assets   1,688,294 392,655

     

current assets   245,787 122,420

     

liabilities    

current liabilities   (399,131) (300,420)

   
The Joint Venture had capital commitments of £1,566,000 in respect of the Guyane project as at 30 June 2011 (2010: £nil). 
There were no contingent liabilities at 30 June 2011 (2010: £nil).
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notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 11  trade and other receivables 

   2011 2010 

   £ £

Amounts due from joint venture undertaking   – 209,706

Other receivables   52,311 53,571

    

   52,311 263,277

    
The directors consider the carrying value of trade and other receivables are approximate to their fair value.

All of the Group’s receivables have been reviewed for indications of impairment. None of the receivables were found  
to be impaired as at 30 June 2011 (2010: £nil).

No unimpaired receivables are past due as at the reporting date (2010: £nil). 

12  cash and cash equivalents  

   2011 2010 

   £ £

cash at bank (GBP)   2,512,117 313,745
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notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

13  a) share capital

   2011 2010 

   £ £

allotted, issued and fully paid   

479,364,824 shares (2010: 304,364,824 shares) of 0.1 pence   479,365 304,365

     

allotments during the year   
during the year ended 30 June 2011 the company issued a total of 175,000,000 ordinary shares (2010: 107,843,318)  
for a premium, net of issue costs, of £4,437,428 (2010: £1,456,465).

Date  price per share  number of  total 
 (sterling)  shares issued consideration 
    received £

19 November 2010 2.5p  75,000,000 1,875,000

23 march 2011 3p  100,000,000 3,000,000

   175,000,000 4,875,000
 
On 23 march 2011 trading of the entire share capital of the company commenced on Aim.

13  b) share-Based payments – options and Warrants
The company has a share option scheme for all directors and senior management. Options are exercisable at a price equal  
to the average market price of the company’s shares on the date of grant. The vesting period is one, two and three years – 
one third of the options vesting in each period. The options are settled in equity once exercised.

The company has also issued share warrants in the year which are exercisable immediately. 

if the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the options expire. Options are forfeited  
if the employee leaves the company before the options vest.

if the warrants remain unexercised after a period of 3 years from the date of grant, the warrants expire.
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notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

13  b) share capital (continued)
details of the number of share options and warrants and the weighted average exercise price (WAEP) outstanding during the 
year are as follows:

 number of Waep number of Waep 
 options £ warrants £

Outstanding at the beginning of the year – – – –

issued 18,500,000 0.05 4,978,648 0.03

     

Outstanding at the year end 18,500,000 0.05 4,978,648 0.03

     

Number exercisable at 30 June 2011 – – 4,978,648 0.03
 
 
The fair values were calculated using the Black Scholes model. The inputs into the model are as follows:

Date of grant   21 December 2010 23 March 2011

Number granted   18,500,000 4,978,648

Share price at date of grant   4p 3p

Exercise price   5p 3p

Expected volatility   60% 60%

Expected life   5.5, 6 and 6.5 years 1.5 years

Risk free rate   2.4% 2.53%

Expected dividend yield   0% 0%

Fair value of options granted at date of grant   £315,514 £44,845

Earliest vesting date   21 december 2011 23 march 2011

Expiry date   21 december 2020 23 march 2014

    
Expected volatility was determined based on the historic volatility of the company. The expected life used in the model 
has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and 
behavioural considerations.

The company recognised total expenses of £147,456 (2010: £nil) related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions 
during the year.
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notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

14  Financial instruments   

classification of financial instruments
The tables below set out the Group’s accounting classification of each class of its financial assets and liabilities.

Financial assets

at 30 June 2011   loans and other  total carrying 
   receivables  value 
   £ £

Other receivables   52,311 52,311

cash and cash equivalents   2,512,117 2,512,117

 

   2,564,428 2,564,428

at 30 June 2010   loans and other  total carrying 
   receivables  value 
   £ £

Other receivables   53,571 53,571

Amounts due from joint venture undertakings   209,706 209,706

cash and cash equivalents   313,745 313,745

   577,022 577,022
 

All of the above financial assets’ carrying values are approximate to their fair values, as at 30 June 2011 and 2010,  

given their nature and short times to maturity.

Financial liabilities   

at 30 June 2011   Measured at  total carrying 
   amortised cost value 
   £ £

Trade payables   30,599 30,599

Accruals    39,000 39,000

   69,599 69,599

at 30 June 2010   Measured at  total carrying 
   amortised cost value 
   £ £

Trade payables   44,589 44,589

Other payables   102,996 102,996

Accruals    24,000 24,000

   171,585 171,585

All of the above financial liabilities’ carrying values are approximate to their fair values, as at 30 June 2011 and 2010,  

given their nature and short times to maturity.



 Wessex Exploration PLc   |   Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011 39

notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

15  Financial instrument risk exposure and Management   

The principal financial risks to which the Group is exposed are: interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, liquidity risk and credit 
risk. This note describes the Group’s objectives, policies and process for managing those risks and the methods used to measure 
them. Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented in notes 11, 12, 14 and 16.

There have been no substantive changes to the Group’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives, policies and 
processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from the previous year.

liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is dealt with in note 16 of these financial statements.

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is limited to the US$ bank account held by the company which is of immaterial value. 

The foreign exchange risk is deemed to be insignificant to the Group and no sensitivity analysis has therefore been presented.

credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash balances. 

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the third parties are large international banks. 

The Group’s total credit risk amounts to the total of the sum of the receivables, cash and cash equivalents. At the year end this 
amounts to £2,564,428 (2010: £577,022).

interest rate risk and sensitivity analysis 
The Group’s only exposure to interest rate risk is the interest received on the cash held on deposit. The Group does not have 
any interest bearing borrowings.

The following table indicates the impact of a change in interest rate on the interest received during the year, and with all other 
variables being held constant, on the Group’s loss before tax.

 change in  2011 change in 2010 
 interest rate £ interest rate £

sterling +0.5% 7,065 0.50% 957

 +1.0% 14,129 1.00% 1,915

 +1.5% 21,194 1.50% 2,872

     

 -0.5% (7,065) -0.50% (957)

 -1.0% (14,129) -1.00% (1,915)

 -1.5% (21,194) -1.50% (2,872)
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notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

16  liquidity risk    

in managing liquidity risk, the main objective of the Group is to ensure that it has the ability to pay all of its liabilities as they 
fall due. The Group monitors its levels of working capital to ensure that it can meet its debt repayments as they fall due. The 
table below shows the undiscounted cash flows on the Group’s financial liabilities as at 30 June 2011 on the basis of their 
earliest possible contractual maturity.

  Within Within  Greater than 
 total 2 months 2 – 6 months 6 – 12 months 12 months 
 £ £ £ £ £

at 30 June 2011      

Trade payables  30,599 30,599 – – –

Accruals 39,000 – 39,000 – –

 69,599 30,599 39,000 – –

   

at 30 June 2010      

Trade payables  44,589 44,589 – – –

Other payables  102,996 – 102,996 – –

Accruals 24,000 – 24,000 – –

      

 171,585 44,589 126,996 – –

17 capital Management   

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, to provide 
returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group defines capital  
as being share capital plus reserves. 

The Board of directors monitors the level of capital as compared to the Group’s commitments and adjusts the level of capital  
as is determined to be necessary, by issuing new shares. 

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

18 Financial commitments
The Group had capital commitments of £783,000 in respect of the Guyane project as at 30 June 2011 (2010: £nil).



 Wessex Exploration PLc   |   Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011 41

notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

19  trade and other payables  

   2011 2010 

   £ £

Trade payables   30,599 44,589

Other payables   – 102,996

Accruals   39,000 24,000

    

   69,599 171,585

20  related party transactions   
during the year the Group acquired additional shares in its Joint Venture investment, Northpet investments Limited,  
paying £1,320,000 into the Joint Venture (2010: 122,800).

The Group has benefitted from the waiver of all outstanding loans from mr F dekker, of £92,997 (loans outstanding  
at 30 June 2010: £92,997).

The only other related party transactions during the year were with the directors and key management. 

 Short-term benefits

   2011 2010 

   £ £

directors’ remuneration:   

mr F dekker   102,917 50,417

mrs J dekker   – 9,167

mr d Bramhill   76,250 32,083

mr A Yeo   46,667 –

mr T Heeley   14,583 32,083

    

   240,417 123,750

    

Social security costs   28,292 11,437

    

   268,709 135,187
 
in addition to the remuneration shown above, the Group incurred share-based payment charges of £102,611 (2010: £nil)  
in respect of the above named directors. 
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notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

21  investment in subsidiaries
The Group’s Parent company holds the issued share capital of the following subsidiary undertaking, which is incorporated  
in the UK and has been included in these consolidated financial statements.

company Principal activities class  Percentage holding

maghreb Exploration Limited Oil and gas development Ordinary  100%

22  contingent liabilities
The directors are not aware of any contingent liabilities within the Group at 30 June 2011.

23  Ultimate controlling party
As at 30 June 2011, Wessex Exploration PLc had no ultimate controlling party.

24  cash Flow from operating activities 

   2011 2010 

   £ £

Loss for the financial year   (1,336,845) (388,895)

Finance income   (5,975) (344)

Share-based payment   147,456 –

Waiver of loans   (92,997) –

(Profit) / loss from joint venture   (265) 25,395

depreciation   730 730

impairment of intangible assets   138,375 –

 

   (1,149,521) (363,114)

 

changes in working capital   

increase in trade and other receivables   1,260 (263,059)

decrease in trade and other payables   (8,989) (25,182)

     

Net cash outflow from operating activities   (1,157,250) (651,355)

25  post Balance sheet events   
No significant events have taken place since the balance sheet date. 
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notes to the consolidated Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

26  transition to iFrs
Wessex Exploration PLc reported under UK GAAP in its previously published financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2010. There have been no adjustments made to the prior year figures as a result of the transition to iFRS and therefore no 
reconciliation of net assets and profit as reported under UK GAAP as at 30 June 2010 to the revised net assets and profit  
under iFRS as reported in these financial statements is deemed necessary.

The conversion to iFRS has led to a number of changes in respect of the descriptions used and wording of accounting policies. 

The main changes are in respect to the primary statements. The Profit and Loss account has been replaced with an income 
Statement and a Statement of comprehensive income which presents the result for the year as the total comprehensive loss  
for the year instead of the loss for the year.

The Balance Sheet has changed format: instead of presenting net assets and shareholders’ funds, the information is now 
presented as total assets and total equity and liabilities. in the year of transition the opening Balance Sheet is also disclosed 
providing two comparative Balance Sheets.

A Statement of changes in Equity is presented as a primary statement and provides information on the movements in equity 
during the financial year. Previously this information was presented as part of the movement in reserves and reconciliations  
of movement in shareholders’ funds notes.

The company’s Statement of cash Flows is presented in accordance with iAS 7. The statements present substantially the same 
information as that required under UK GAAP, with no notable exceptions.

27  reconciliation of equity and profit/(loss) under UK Gaap to iFrs
(a) Reconciliation of equity at 1 July 2009

There were no transition adjustments at 1 July 2009. 

(b) Reconciliation of equity at 30 June 2010

There were no transition adjustments at 30 June 2010.

(c) Reconciliation of loss for the year ended 30 June 2010

There were no transition adjustments for the year ended 30 June 2010.
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Parent company

We have audited the Parent company financial statements of 
Wessex Exploration PLc (‘the company’) for the year ended 
30 June 2011 which comprise the Parent company Balance 
Sheet and the related notes 1 to 11. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as 
a body, in accordance with chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report,  
or for the opinions we have formed.

respective responsibilities of Directors  
and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ 
Responsibilities set out on page 14, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
international Standards on Auditing (UK and ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

scope of the audit of the Financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial  
statements is provided on the APB’s website at  
www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/private.cfm

opinion on Financial statements
in our opinion the Parent company financial statements:

•	 give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	state	of	the	company’s	
affairs as at 30 June 2011;

•	 have	been	properly	prepared	in	accordance	with	United	
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•	 have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	
of the companies Act 2006.

opinion on other Matters prescribed by the 
companies act 2006
in our opinion the information given in the Report of the 
directors for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the Parent 
company financial statements.

Matters on Which we are required to report 
by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the companies Act 2006 requires us to report 
to you if, in our opinion:

•	 adequate	accounting	records	have	not	been	kept	by	the	
Parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

•	 the	Parent	Company	financial	statements	are	not	in	
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•	 certain	disclosures	of	directors’	remuneration	specified	 
by law are not made; or

•	 we	have	not	received	all	the	information	and	explanations	
we require for our audit.

other Matter
•	 We	have	reported	separately	on	the	consolidated	financial	

statements of Wessex Exploration PLc for the year ended 
30 June 2011.

natasha lee  

Senior Statutory Auditor,  
for and on behalf of 

Statutory Auditor  
chartered Accountants 
25 moorgate 
London 
Ec2R 6AY

26 October 2011

independent auditor’s report 
to the Members of Wessex exploration plc
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  Notes 2011 2010 

   £ £

Fixed assets    

intangible assets  2 589,589 593,644

Tangible fixed assets  3 2,192 2,922

investments  4 1,580,050 260,050

    

   2,171,831 856,616

    

current assets    

debtors  5 165,581  358,381

cash at bank   2,511,382 312,914

    

   2,676,963 671,295

    

creditors: amounts falling due within one year  6 69,599 152,844

    

net current assets   2,607,364 518,451

    

net assets   4,779,195 1,375,067

    

capital and reserves    

called up share capital   7 479,365 304,365

Share premium account  8 5,509,935 1,072,507

Share-based payment reserve  8 147,456 –

Profit and loss account  8 (1,357,561) (1,805)

    

shareholders’ funds  9 4,779,195 1,375,067

    

The financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 26 October 2011 and were signed on its behalf by:

Frederik Dekker

director

parent company Balance sheet
as at 30 June 2011
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1 accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The annual financial statements of Wessex Exploration PLc 
have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
accounting standards. The principal accounting policies 
set out below have been consistently applied to all periods 
presented. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention. 

As permitted by section 408 of companies Act 2006, a 
separate Profit and Loss Account for the company has not 
been included in these financial statements. The company’s 
loss for the year ended 30 June 2011 was £1,355,756  
(2010: £361,693).

As permitted by FRS 1 cash flow statements, no cash flow 
statement for the company has been included. 

As permitted by FRS 8 Related party disclosures, no related 
party disclosures for the company have been included,  
in respect of transactions with its 100% owned subsidiaries.

Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on  
the Balance Sheet when the company becomes a party  
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of the company after deducting all of 
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the company are 
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

interest is credited to the Profit and Loss Account in the 
period to which it relates.

exploration costs

The company follows a successful efforts-based accounting 
policy for oil and gas assets. 

costs (including research costs) incurred prior to obtaining 
the legal rights to explore an area are expensed immediately 
to the Profit and Loss Account.

Expenditure incurred on the acquisition of a licence interest  
is initially capitalised on a licence by licence basis. costs  
are held, un-depleted, within exploration costs until such  
a time as the exploration phase on the licence area is 
complete or commercial reserves have been discovered.

Exploration expenditure incurred in the process of 
determining exploration targets is capitalised initially  
within intangible assets as exploration costs. 

tangible oil and Gas assets

Once a decision is reached that commercial reserves have 
been established the relevant costs are transferred (following 
an impairment review) from intangible oil and gas assets 
to development and production assets within tangible oil 
and gas assets. Expenditure incurred after the commerciality 
of the field has been established is then capitalised within 
tangible oil and gas assets. 

At the balance sheet date no such transfers to tangible assets 
had been made.

tangible Fixed assets

depreciation is provided in order to write off the cost less  
any residual value of each asset over its estimated useful life. 

The following annual rates are used on a reducing balance 
basis:

Plant and machinery  25%

investments

investments are included at cost less amounts written off  
for impairment.

notes to the parent company Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011
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notes to the parent company Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011

current taxation

current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, 
is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) 
using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation

deferred taxation is provided for on a full provision basis on 
all timing differences that have originated but not reversed 
at the balance sheet date. deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that they are recoverable, that is, on the basis 
of all available evidence it is more likely than not that there 
will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal 
of the underlying timing differences can be deducted. Any 
assets and liabilities recognised have not been discounted.

Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are 
translated into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
date of the transaction. At the balance sheet date, monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are 
translated at the rate ruling at that date. All exchange 
differences are dealt with in the Profit and Loss Account.

share-Based payments

Where share options and warrants have been granted 
to directors, employees and advisers, FRS 20 has been 
applied, whereby the fair value of the options and warrants 
is measured at the grant date. The fair value of options is 
spread over the period during which the employees become 
entitled to the options. The fair value of warrants is expensed 
immediately.

A valuation model is used to assess the fair value, taking into 
account the terms and conditions attached to the options 
and warrants. The fair value of goods and services received 
are measured by reference to the fair value of options and 
warrants. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, 
ending on the date on which the relevant employees become 
fully entitled to the award (‘the vesting date’).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled 
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired 
and the company’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest.

The profit or loss charge or credit for a period represents 
the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the 
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately 
vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 
market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective 
of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided 
that all other performance and/or service conditions are 
satisfied. Where the terms of an equity-settled award are 
modified, the minimum expense recognised is the expense  
as if the terms had not been modified. An additional expense 
is recognised for any modification, which increases the total 
fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is 
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the  
date of modification. 

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as  
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense 
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. 
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled 
award, and designated as a replacement award on the date 
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated 
as if they were a modification of the original award, as 
described in the previous paragraph.
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notes to the parent company Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011

2 intangible Fixed assets

    Development 
    costs 
    £

cost   

At 1 July 2010    593,644

Additions    134,320

    

At 30 June 2011    727,964

    

accumulated amortisation and impairment   

At 1 July 2010    –

impairment    138,375

net book value   

At 30 June 2011    589,589

    

At 30 June 2010    593,644

management review each exploration project for indication of impairment at each balance sheet date. 

Such indications would include written off wells and relinquishment of development acreage.

during the financial year, the company relinquished the PEdL 089 licence that was due to expire in September 2011.  
As a result, the full amount invested in this project of £138,375 has been impaired at the balance sheet date.

At the balance sheet date there were no further indications of impairment on any of the projects.   

3 tangible Fixed assets   

    plant and  
    machinery 
    £

cost   

At 1 July 2010 and 30 June 2011    11,529

    

Accumulated depreciation   

At 1 July 2010    8,607

charge for the year    730 

    

    9,337

    

Net book value   

At 30 June 2011    2,192

    

At 30 June 2010    2,922
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notes to the parent company Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011

4 investments     

The company’s investments at the balance sheet date comprise:

  investments in  investments in total 
  Joint Ventures  subsidiaries  
  £ £ £

cost     

As at 1 July 2010  240,050 20,000 260,050

     

Additions  1,320,000 – 1,320,000

     

As at 30 June 2011  1,560,050 20,000 1,580,050

     

 
subsidiaries
The company has an investment in the following subsidiary undertaking

  country of  principal interest 
  incorporation activity

maghreb Exploration Limited  England & Wales Oil and gas 100% 
   exploration and   
   development 

 

 

Joint Venture investments

The company has an investment in the following joint venture undertaking

 country of  principal interest accounting 
 incorporation activity  reference 
    date

Northpet investments Limited England & Wales investment in oil 50% 31 december
  and gas exploration,   
  development and    
  production opportunities  

 
Northpet investments Limited is a joint venture between Wessex Exploration PLc and NP Offshore Holdings (UK) Limited.  
Each partner owns 50% of the issued share capital of the company.
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notes to the parent company Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011

5 Debtors 

   2011 2010 

   £ £

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings   113,270 95,104

Amounts due from joint venture undertakings   – 209,706

Other debtors   31,128 53,571

Prepayments   21,183 –

    

   165,581 358,381

    

6 creditors: amounts Falling Due Within one Year  

   2011 2010 

   £ £

Trade creditors   30,599 44,589

Other creditors   – 84,255

Accruals   39,000 24,000

    

   69,599 152,844

7 a) share capital

   2011 2010 

   £ £

Allotted, issued and fully paid  

479,364,824 shares (2010: 304,364,824 shares) of 0.1 pence   479,365 304,365

   479,365 304,365

allotments during the year    
during the year ended 30 June 2011 the company issued a total of 175,000,000 ordinary shares (2010: 107,843,318)  
for a premium, net of issue costs, of £4,437,428 (2010: £1,456,465).

Date   price per share  number of total 
  (sterling)  shares issued consideration  
    received  
    £

19 November 2010  2.5p 75,000,000 1,875,000

23 march 2011  3p 100,000,000 3,000,000

     

   175,000,000 4,875,000
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notes to the parent company Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011

7 b) share-Based payments – options and Warrants
The company has a share option scheme for all directors and senior management. Options are exercisable at a price equal to 
the average market price of the company’s shares on the date of grant. The vesting period is one, two and three years – one 
third of the options vesting in each period. The options are settled in equity once exercised.

The company has also issued share warrants in the year which are exercisable immediately.  

if the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the options expire. Options are forfeited  
if the employee leaves the company before the options vest.

if the warrants remain unexercised after a period of 3 years from the date of grant, the warrants expire.

details of the number of share options and warrants and the weighted average exercise price (WAEP) outstanding during  
the year are as follows:

 number of Waep number of Waep 
 options £  warrants  £

Outstanding at the beginning of the year – – – –

     

issued 18,500,000 0.05 4,978,648 0.03

     

Outstanding at the year end 18,500,000 0.05 4,978,648 0.03

     

Number exercisable at 30 June 2011 – – 4,978,648 0.03
 
 

The fair values were calculated using the Black Scholes model. The inputs into the model are as follows:

Date of grant  21 December 2010  23 March 2011

Number granted  18,500,000  4,978,648

Share price at date of grant  4p  3p

Exercise price  5p  3p

Expected volatility  60%  60%

Expected life  5.5, 6 and 6.5 years  1.5 years

Risk free rate  2.4%  2.53%

Expected dividend yield  0%  0%

Fair value of options granted at date of grant  £315,514  £44,845

Earliest vesting date  21 december 2011  23 march 2011

Expiry date  21 december 2020  23 march 2014

    
Expected volatility was determined based on the historic volatility of the company. The expected life used in the model has 
been adjusted, based on the management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and 
behavioural considerations.

The company recognised total expenses of £147,456 (2010: £nil) related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions 

during the year.



Parent company

52 Wessex Exploration PLc   |   Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011

notes to the parent company Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011

8 reserves

 share profit and share-based  
 premium loss account payment  
 account  reserve  total 
 £ £ £ £

As at 1 July 2010 1,072,507 (1,805) – 1,070,702

     

issue of share-based payments – – 147,456 147,456

issue of share capital 4,700,000 – – 4,700,000

issue costs (262,572) – – (262,572)

Loss for the financial year – (1,355,756) – (1,355,756)

     

As at 30 June 2011 5,509,935 (1,357,561) 147,456 4,299,830

 
9 reconciliation of Movement in shareholders’ Funds

   2011 2010 

   £ £

Loss for the financial year   (1,355,756) (361,693)

issue of shares net of expenses   4,612,428 1,610,383

Share-based payments   147,456 –

     

Net increase in shareholders’ funds   3,404,128 1,248,690

Shareholders’ funds at 1 July 2010   1,375,067 126,377

     

Shareholders’ funds at 30 June 2011   4,779,195  1,375,067
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notes to the parent company Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011

10 related party transactions      

during the year the company acquired additional shares in its Joint Venture investment, Northpet investments Ltd,  
paying £1,320,000 into the Joint Venture (2010: 122,800).

The company has benefitted from the waiver of all outstanding loans from mr F dekker, of £74,255 (Loans outstanding  
at 30 June 2010: £84,255).

The only other related party transactions during the year were with the directors and key management. 

 Salaries and Fees

   2011 2010 

   £ £

directors’ remuneration:   

mr F dekker   102,917 50,417

mrs J dekker   – 9,167  

mr d Bramhill   76,250 32,083

mr A Yeo   46,667 –

mr T Heeley   14,583 32,083

    

   240,417 123,750

   

Social security costs   28,292 11,437

   

   268,709 135,187

   
in addition to the remuneration shown above, the company incurred share-based payment charges of £102,611 (2010: £nil)  
in respect of the above named directors.

11 post Balance sheet events
No significant events have taken place since the balance sheet date. 
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Annual General meeting

notice of annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General meeting 
(“AGm”) of Wessex Exploration PLc (“company”) will be 
held at the offices of Ashfords LLP, Tower Wharf, cheese 
Lane, Bristol BS2 OJJ on 6 december 2011 at 11 a.m. for  
the purpose of transacting the following business:

ordinary Business
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions 
as Ordinary Resolutions: 

1  To receive and adopt the Report of the directors and 
the audited accounts for the year ended 30 June 2011.

2  To re-appoint Nexia Smith & Williamson as auditors 
of the company and to authorise the directors to fix 
their remuneration.

3  To re-elect, Frederik dekker, who retires in accordance 
with the Articles of Association of the company,  
as a director of the company.

4  That, in substitution for any equivalent authorities 
and powers granted to the directors prior to the 
passing of this resolution, other than in respect of 
any allotments made prior to the passing of this 
resolution, the directors be and they are generally and 
unconditionally authorised pursuant to Section 551 
of the companies Act 2006 (the “act”) to exercise 
all powers of the company to issue and allot shares 
in the company, and grant rights to subscribe for or 
to convert any security into shares of the company 
(such shares, and rights to subscribe for or to convert 
any security in to shares of the company being 
(“relevant securities”) up to an aggregate nominal 
amount of £359,035 (being 359,035,000 ordinary 
shares (“ordinary shares”) of 0.1 pence each in 
the capital of the company) provided that, unless 
previously revoked, varied or extended, this authority 
shall expire on the earlier of 15 months from the 
passing of the resolution and the conclusion of the 
AGm of the company to be held in 2012, except 
that the company may at any time before such expiry 
make an offer or agreement which would or might 
require relevant securities to be allotted after such 
expiry and the directors may allot relevant securities 
in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if this 
authority had not expired. 

special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution 
as a Special Resolution:

5  That the directors be and they are empowered 
pursuant to Section 570(1) of the Act to allot equity 
securities (as defined in Section 560(1) of the Act) 
of the company wholly for cash pursuant to the 
authority of the directors under Section 551 of 
the Act conferred by resolution 4, in each case as 
if Section 561(1) of the Act did not apply to such 
allotment, provided that:

 (a)  the power conferred by this resolution shall be limited 
to the allotment of:

   (i)  equity securities in connection with a rights  
issue, open offer or pre-emptive offer to holders 
on the register of the Ordinary Shares on a  
date fixed by the directors where the equity 
securities respectively attribute to the interests  
of all those shareholders are proportionate (as 
nearly as practicable) to the respective numbers  
of Ordinary Shares held by them on that date  
but the directors of the company may make such 
exclusions or other arrangements as the directors 
may deem necessary or expedient to deal with 
fractional entitlements or legal or practical 
problems arising under the laws or requirements 
of any overseas territory or by virtue of shares 
being represented by depository receipts or the 
requirements of any regulatory body or stock 
exchange or any other matter whatsoever; and

  (ii)  (other than under paragraph (a) (i) above) equity 
securities up to an aggregate nominal amount  
not exceeding £18,500 (being 18,500,000 
Ordinary Shares) under the company’s 
unapproved share option plan in relation to 
options granted on 21 december 2010; and

  (iii)  (other than under paragraphs (a)(i) and (ii) above) 
equity securities wholly for cash or otherwise up 
to an aggregate nominal amount not exceeding 
£340,535 (being 340,535,000 Ordinary Shares) 
on such terms and to such persons as the Board 
may determine such authority to allot being in 
addition to any authority given in the company’s 
Articles of Association or otherwise to allot equity 
securities without any rights of pre-emption.
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 (b)   unless previously revoked, varied or extended, this 
power shall expire on the earlier of 15 months from 
the passing of this resolution and conclusion of the 
AGm of the company to be held in 2012 except that 
the company may before the expiry of this power 
make an offer or agreement which would or might 
require equity securities to be allotted after such  
expiry and the directors may allot equity securities  
in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if  
this power had not expired.

By order of the Board

Brian Marshall Fca 
company Secretary

26 October 2011

Registered Office: 
6 charlotte Street, 
Bath BA1 2NE

Notes:

1  Pursuant to regulation 41 of the Uncertificated 
Securities Regulations 2001 (as amended), only those 
shareholders registered in the register of members  
of the company at 6 p.m. on 5 december 2011  
(or if the AGm is adjourned 48 hours before the  
time fixed for the adjourned AGm) shall be entitled  
to attend, speak and vote at the AGm in respect  
of the number of shares registered in their name at 
that time. Any changes to the register of members 
at that time shall be disregarded in determining the 
rights of any person to attend or vote at the AGm.

2  if you wish to attend the AGm in person, you should 
make sure that you arrive at the venue for the AGm 
in good time before the commencement of the 
meeting. You may be asked to provide proof of  
you identity in order to gain admission.

3  A member who is entitled to attend, speak and vote 
at the AGm may appoint a proxy to attend, speak  
and vote instead of him. A member may appoint 
more than one proxy provided that each proxy is 
appointed to exercise rights attached to different 
shares (so a member must have more than one  
share to be able to appoint more than one proxy). 
A proxy need not be a member of the company 
but must attend the AGm in order to represent his 
appointer. A proxy vote must vote in accordance 
with any instructions given by the member by whom 
the proxy is appointed. Appointing a proxy will not 
prevent a member from attending in person and 
voting at the AGm (although voting in person at  
the AGm will terminate the proxy appointment).  
A proxy form is enclosed. The notes to the proxy form 
include instructions on how to appoint the chairman 
of the AGm or another person as proxy. You can only 
appoint a proxy using the procedures set out in these 
notes and in the notes to the proxy form.

4  To be valid, a proxy form, and the original or duly 
certified copy of the power of attorney or other 
authority (if any) under which it is signed or 
authenticated, should reach the company’s registrar, 
capita Registrars at PXS, 34 Beckenham Road, 
Beckenham BR3 4TU, by no later than 2 p.m.  
on 2 december 2011.

5   The notes to the proxy form include instructions on 
how to appoint a proxy by using the cREST proxy 
appointment service.

6  You may not use any electronic address provided 
either in this notice of the AGm or in any related 
documents (including the proxy form) to communicate 
with the company for any purposes other than those 
expressly stated.

7  in the case of joint holders of shares, the vote of the 
first named in the register of members who tenders a 
vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted 
to the exclusion of the votes of other joint holders.

8  A member that is a company or other organisation 
not having a physical presence cannot attend in 
person but can appoint someone to represent it. 
This can be done in one of two ways: either by the 
appointment of a proxy (described in notes 3 to 5 
above) or of a corporate representative. members 
considering the appointment of a corporate 
representative should check their own legal position, 
the company’s articles of association and the relevant 
provision of the companies Act 2006.
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explanatory notes to the resolutions  
to be proposed at the annual General Meeting

resolution 1 – report and accounts
The directors will present the audited and financial 
statements of the company for the year ended 30 June 2011 
together with the Report of the directors and the Auditors 
Report on those financial statements.

resolution 2 – re-appointment of auditors  
and Fixing of auditors’ remuneration 
The company is required to appoint auditors at each Annual 
General meeting (“AGm”) at which accounts are laid before 
shareholders, to hold office until the next such meeting. 
The Resolution proposes that Nexia Smith & Williamson be 
re-appointed as auditors for the current year and that the 
directors be authorised to set their fees. 

resolution 3 – re-election of Frederik Dekker
Under the Articles of Association of the company the 
directors are required to put themselves up for re-election  
at least every three years. This year, Frederik dekker will 
resign at the AGm and put himself up for re-election  
at the AGm held by the company.

resolution 4 – Directors’ authority to allot 
shares
This resolution grants the directors authority to allot  
shares in the capital of the company and other relevant 
securities up to an aggregate nominal value of £359,035 
representing approximately 74.9% of the nominal value 
of the issued Ordinary Share capital of the company as at 
26 October 2011, being the last practical date prior to the 
publication of this notice.

The directors consider it desirable that the specified amount 
of unissued share capital is available for issue so that they 
can more readily take advantage of possible opportunities 
should they arise. Unless revoked, varied or extended, this 
authority will expire at the conclusion of the next AGm of 
the company.

resolution 5 – Directors’ power to issue shares 
for cash 
This resolution authorises the directors in certain 
circumstances to allot equity securities for cash other than  
in accordance with statutory pre-emption rights (which 
require a company to offer all allotments for cash first to 
existing shareholders in proportion to their holdings). The 
relevant circumstances are either where (i) the allotment 
takes place in connection with an open offer or rights 
issue; or (ii) the allotment of shares under the company’s 
unapproved share option plan up to an aggregate nominal 
amount not exceeding £18,500 (being 18,500,000 Ordinary 
Shares); or (iii) the allotment of shares on such terms and  
to such persons as the Board may determine up to an 
aggregate nominal amount not exceeding 340,535 (being 
340,535,000 Ordinary Shares). Any allotment is limited  
to a maximum nominal amount of £359,035 representing 
approximately 74.9% of the nominal value of the issued 
Ordinary Share capital of the company as at 26 October 
2011, being the last practical date prior to the publication  
of this notice.

Unless revoked, varied or extended, this authority will expire 
at the conclusion of the next AGm of the company. 
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